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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

COLUMBUS DIVISION 

Xao Thao, ) 

) Case No. 

Petitioner, ) 
) PETITION FOR WRIT OF 

v. ) HABEAS CORPUS 

) 
Jason Streeval, Warden, Stewart Detention ) 

Center; George Sterling, Field Office ) 
Director ICE Atlanta Field Office, U.S. ) 
Immigration and Customs Enforcement; ) 

Kristi Noem, Secretary of the U.S. ) 
Department of Homeland Security; ) 

Pamela Bondi, Attorney General of the ). 
United States, in their official capacities, ) 

) 
Respondents. ) 

) 

INTRODUCTION 

1, Petitioner, Xao Thao, appearing pro se, is a noncitizen who was re-detained during 

her annual immigration check-in on December 10, 2025 at the ERO ICE office located in Charlotte, 

North Carolina, She was then transported that evening to Lumpkin, Georgia, where she is currently 

being detained at the Stewart Detention Center. 

2. Petitioner's detention is unlawful and violates: (1) the regulations set forth in 8 CFR. 

§ 241.4(1) and § 241.13(4); (2) the Supreme Court's decision in Zadvydas v. Davis, 533 U.S. 678 

(2001); and (3) the Fifth Amendment and the Due Process Clause. 

3. When Petitioner was being re-detained, she was not given a notice and she was not 

given a “prompt" interview, in violation of 8 C.E.R. § 241.4(1) and § 241.130), She was not 

informed of any circumstances that changed which allowed ICE to re-detain her. She received no 

notice of revocation of her supervision, rendering her supervision still in effect. Petitioner was not 

given an opportunity to respond as no questions were asked of her pertaining to her re-detention.
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4. Petitioner was given "standard" papers to sign, as explained to her by the ICE agent 

who asked her to sign the papers, and she signed them (see Exhibits A_\_-A_3_; redaction to all 

exhibits are in accordance to the Federal Rule of Civil Procedures (FRCP) 5.2 and Criminal Code 

49.1 to protect sensitive personal information and privacy). 

5. Petitioner received an order of removal on June 20, 2013, which became final after 

she did not check the box to appeal (see Exhibit B). She was previously detained by ICE at the 

Baker County Jail in MacClenny, Florida in 2013 for six months. She was given an order of 

supervision (OSUP) on September 18, 2013 and later released. Her current re-detention at Stewart 

Detention Center in Lumpkin, Georgia does not re-start the clock based on Zadvydas. 

6. Petitioner's Constitutional Fifth Amendment rights were violated by her unlawful 

detention, depriving her of physical liberty and Due Process. 

7. Petitioner asks this Court to find that the habeas corpus is entitled to relief and asks 

the Court to order her immediate release from custody. 

JURISDICTION 

8. This action arises under the Constitution of the United States and the Immigration 

and Nationality Act (INA), 8 U.S.C. § 1101 ef seg. 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 (habeas corpus), 

28 ULS.C. § 1331 (federal question), and Article I, § 9, cl. 2 of the United States Constitution 

(Suspension Clause). 

10. This Court may grant relief under the habeas corpus statutes, 28 U.S.C. § 2241 et 

seq,, the Declaratory Judgement Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201 ef seq., and the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 

1651. 

VENUE 

li. Venue is proper because Petitioner is detained at the Stewart Dentention Center in
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Lumpkin, Georgia, which is within the jurisdiction of this District. 

REQUIREMENTS OF 28 U.S.C. § 2243 

12. The Court must grant the petition for writ of habeas corpus or issue an order to show 

cause (OSC) to the Respondents “forthwith", unless the Petitioner is not entitled to relief. 28 U.S.C, 

§ 2243, If an order to show cause is issued, the Court must require Respondents to file a return 

"within three days unless for good cause additional time, not exceeding twenty days, is allowed." 

Id, (emphasis added), 

13. Courts have long recognized the significance of the habeas statute in protecting 

individuals from unlawful detention. The Great Writ has been referred to as "perhaps the most 

important writ known to the constitutional law of England, affording as it does a swift and 

imperative remedy in all cases of illegal restraint or confinement." Fay v, Nota, 372 U.S, 391, 400 

(1963) (emphasis added). 

PARTIES 

14. Petitioner is a noncitizen, Petitioner is currently detained at the Stewart Detention 

Center in Lumpkin, Georgia. Petitioner is a resident of Clover, South Carolina, She is in the 

custody, and under the direct control, of Respondents and their agents. 

15. Respondent Jason Streeval is the Warden of the Stewart Detention Center, and he has 

immediate physical custody of Petitioner pursuant to the facility's contract with U.S, Immigration 

and Customs Enforcement to detain noncitizens. Respondent Streeval is a legal custodian of 

Petitioner. 

16. Respondent George Sterling is sued in his official capacity as the Field Office 

Director of the Atlanta Field Office of US. Immigration and Customs Enforcement. Respondent 

Sterling is a legal custodian of Petitioner and has authority to release her. 

17. Respondent Kristi Noem is sued in her official capacity as the Secretary of the U.S.
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Department of Homeland Security (DHS). In this capacity, Respondent Noem is responsible for the 

implementation and enforcement of the Immigration and Nationality Act, and oversees U.S. 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement, the component agency responsible for Petitioner's 

detention. Respondent Noem is a legal custodian of Petitioner. 

18. Respondent Pamela Bondi is sued in her official capacity as the Attorney General of 

the United States and the senior official of the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ). In that capacity, 

she has the authority to adjudicate removal cases and to oversee the Executive Office for 

Immigration Review (EOIR), which administers the immigration courts and the BIA. Respondent 

Bondi is a legal custodian of Petitioner. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

19. Petitioner is a forty-two year old stateless citizen, born in a refugee camp in Thailand 

(see Exhibit C). 

20. Thailand does not recognize individuals born in refugee camps as their own citizens 

(see Exhibit D). Petitioner does not speak Thai and has never been to Thailand. She has no relatives 

in Thailand and has no ties to that country. Petitioner does not have any identification documents 

(passport, [Ds, ctc.,) from the country Thailand. 

21. Petitioner does not speak Laotian. Petitioner has never been to Laos. She has no 

relatives in Laos and has no ties to that country. Petitioner does not have any identification 

documents from the country Laos. 

22. Petitioner immigrated with her family to the United States as a refugee (see Exhibit 

E1-E2) on March 27, 1986 at the age of two years old. Her status was then adjusted to that of a 

Lawful Permanent Resident on April 6, 1988 (see Exhibit F1-F2), 

23. On May 27, 2025, at the age twenty-one years old, Petitioner was convicted in the 

Court of General Sessions in the State of South Carolina in York County, for the offense of Breach
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of Trust (more than $1000 less than $5000), in violation of the Code of Law of South Carolina 16- 

13-230, for which a sentence term of five years was imposed, suspended to thirty days in custody. 

(Case Number: 2004.GS.4633 15) (see Exhibit G). 

24, On February 10, 2010, at the age of twenty-six years old, Petitioner was convicted in 

the U.S. District Court of the Southern District of Georgia in Augusta, Georgia, for the offenses of 

count 1: Possession of unauthorized access devices, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1029(a)(3), and 

count 2: Aggravated identity theft in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1028A(a)(1); and was sentenced to a 

sentenced term of sixty-one months. (Case Number: CR109-00037-001) (see Exhibit H), 

25.  OnApril 10, 2013, after Petitioner served her federal sentence, she was given a 

Warrant for Arrest of Alien (see Exhibit I) and promptly detained by ICE. She was taken from the 

Federal Bureau of Prison (FBOP) in Tallahassee, Florida, and transferred to the Baker County Jail 

in MacClenny, Florida, She was also given a Notice to Appear (see Exhibit J) and a Notice of 

Custody Declaration (see Exhibit K) that same day. 

26. Petitioner was given an order of removal on June 20, 2013 (see Exhibit B), which 

became final after she did not check the box to appeal. The countries of removal listed on 

Petitioner's final order stated that she was to be removed to Thailand or in the alternative, to Laos. 

27. Petitioner spent six months at the Baker County Jail awaiting removal. ICE was 

unable to obtain travel documents for Petitioner to Thailand and also, unable to obtain travel 

documents for Petitioner to Laos, Petitioner was then given an Order of Supervision (OSUP) on 

September 18, 2013 (see Exhibit L). She was later released. 

28. — Since Petitioner's release on OSUP in 2013, she has reported bi-annually to the ERO 

ICE office in Charlotte, North Carolina, A few years later, her supervision check-in appointments 

were changed from twice a year to only once a year. Petitioner has never missed an immigration 

check-in appointment in the past twelve years. Petitioner has complied with all the conditions of her
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release, Petitioner also has never violated her OSUP. 

29. On December 10, 2025, Petitioner arrived early at 4am to wait in line for her yearly 

check-in appointment at the ERO ICE office in Charlotte, North Carolina. Around 1:30pm to 2pm, 

Petitioner's name was called. She was directed to a door, and after entering, was immediately 

handcuffed and detained by a female ICE officer named Armenta, in the presence of three to four 

male ICE officers. 

30, ICE officer Armenta said to Petitioner, as she was being handcuffed, "I have to take | 

you into custody because of your charge." Petitioner had no run-ins with the law after being 

released in 2013 and had no new or pending criminal charges. Petitioner understood that ICE officer 

Armenta was referring to Petitioner's 2010 conviction charges in which Petitioner had already 

served the punishment for said charges. 

31. Petitioner was then escorted into an elevator. She traveled down to an intake area 

with holding cells. Petitioner was put into a holding cell with three other female detainees. Later, 

Petitioner was allowed by another ICE officer, Jay, to use her cell phone to write down her sister's 

number and to also call her sister. Petitioner's sister and mother were waiting outside the ERO ICE 

office for Petitioner to return. She informed them of her re-detainment. Then, she was put back 

inside the holding cell. 

32. Sometime later, another ICE officer, %. 43% Masons , had Petitioner leave the 

holding cell to sign what he called, "standard" documents. Before signing, Petitioner asked him, 

“Why am I being detained?”, The ICE officer spoke harshly and said, "As long as you have a final 

order of removal, we can detain you as many times as we want." 

33. The ICE officer's tone startled Petitioner and she didn't feel that she could speak 

freely. To decrease the tension, Petitioner said, "I'm not mad at you. I understand that you're just 

doing your job," To which the ICE officer responded with, "Well, I'm mad. I hate what I'm doing.
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It's Trump's fault, I wouldn't do this, but my hands are tied." 

34, Petitioner signed the documents (see Exhibits A_1_ -A_3_) to appease the ICE 

officer. Petitioner noticed that she never signed a Revocation of Release or any Notice that 

explained why she was being re-detained. One of the papers had the country name Laos on the top 

of the page, misspelled as “Loas". She was given copies of the documents after entering the holding 

cell again, Swe wor Weoley deketmedk. Form Lar Gay Samed to stoke her Feak orcher GI2o]e , 

35. Laos does not have a repatriation agreement with the United States (see Exhibits M, 

N). The Law of Lao nationality of 2004 (the most current law) states that Laotian citizens forfeit 

citizenship after residing in another country for more than ten years (see Exhibits 01-010). 

Petitioner's parents have never been to Laos since immigrating to the United States in 1986, for over 

forty years. They have no relatives in Laos and have no ties with Laos. Her parents are both U.S. 

citizens. Petitioner is stateless (see Exhibits P, Q), being born in a refugee camp. 

36. Petitioner was not given a reason for her re-detainment. Neither was she afforded the 

opportunity to challenge her re-detainment and provide evidence to support her claims. Neither was 

she given a “prompt” informal interview. Her few words of exchange with the ICE officer about his 

dislike of the President and his statement that ICE could re-detain Petitioner whenever they wanted 

are not sufficient material to be considered an informal interview. 

37. That evening, Petitioner was transferred on to a bus with forty male detainees and the 

three female detainees. Petitioner asked and was told that she would be heading down to the Stewart 

Detention Center in Lumpkin, Georgia, a seven-hour drive from Charlotte, North Carolina. 

38, Petitioner is currently detained at the Stewart Detention Center in Lumpkin, Georgia. 

She has been re-detained for over a month now and still has never received a notice, a revocation of 

her supervision, nor a "prompt" informal interview. 

LEGAL FRAMEWORK 
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39, § 2241(a): Writs of habeas corpus may be granted by the Supreme Court, any justice 

thereof, the district courts and any circuit judge within their respective jurisdictions. The order of 

the circuit judge shal! be entered in the records of the district court of the district wherein the 

restraint complained of is had. 

40. § 2241(c)(3): The writ of habeas corpus shall not extend to a prisoner unless he or 

she is in custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States. 

41, § 241.4(1): An alien ordered removed who is inadmissible under section 212 of the 

Act, including an excludeable alien convicted of one or more aggravated felony offenses and 

subject to the provisions of section 501(b) of the Immigration Act of 1990, Public Law 101-649, 

104 Stat. 4978, 5048 (codified at 8 U.S.C. 1226(e)(1) through (e)(3) (1994)); 

42.  § 241.13@)(3): Determination of whether there is a significant likelihood of 

removing a detained alien in the reasonably foreseeable future. Revocation of release. Revocation 

procedures. Upon revocation, the alien will be notified of the reasons for revocation of his or her 

release. The Service will conduct an initial informal interview promptly after his or her return to 

Service custody to afford the alien an opportunity to respond to the reasons for revocation stated in 

the notification. The alien may submit any evidence or information that he or she believes shows 

that there is no significant likelihood he or she will be removed in the reasonable foreseeable future, 

43. § 1231(1)(B)@), Removal period begins on date of final order. 

44,  § 1231(3) Supervision after ninety day period. 

CLAIMS FOR RELDEF 

COUNT ONE 

Violation of the Regulations set forth in 8 CLE.R. § 241.4(1) and § 241.13) 

45. The allegations in the above paragraphs are realleged and incorporated herein. 

46. Petitioner was unlawfully re-detained in violation of the regulations set forth in 8
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CBR, § 241.4(1) and § 241.13). She was not given any notice, any notice of revocation of her 

supervision, nor a "prompt" informal interview. Where there is a regulatory violation such as [CE 

failing to comply with the requirements of § 241.4 and § 241.13, ICE deprived Petitioner of the due 

process protections that these regulations provided. Therefore, Petitioner was prejudiced by ICE's 

failure to comply with its own regulations, Agencies must comply with their own regulations. 

47. For these reasons, Petitioner's detention violates ICE's own regulations set forth in 8 

C.BR, §241.4(1) and § 241.13G). 

COUNT TWO 

Violation of the Supreme Court's decision in Zadvydas v. Davis 

48, The allegations in the above paragraphs are realleged and incorperated therein. 

49.  Zadvydas shifts the burden of re-detention to ICE. The Petitioner was already 

detained by ICE for six months in 2013. The clock for Zadvydas does not restart when the Petitioner 

was re-detained by ICE on December 10, 2025. Zadvydas states that a reasonably foreseeable time 

for removal is six months and anything after is not reasonable. Petitioner has met the six month 

requirement. 

50. For these reasons, Petitioner's detention violates the Supreme Court's decision in 

Zadvydas v. Davis, 533U.S. 678 (2001). 

COUNT THREE 

Violation of the Fifth Amendment Right to Due Process 

51. The allegations in the above paragraphs are realleged and incorporated herein. 

52. Petitioner's unlawful detention violates the Fifth Amendment and Due Process 

Clause. She was deprived of her physical liberty when she was re-detained without notice, without a 

revocation of her supervision, and without a "prompt" informal interview. 8 C.F.R. § 241.4(1) and § 

241.13(i) protects the rights and affords due process for noncitizens. Because Petitioner is being
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unlawfully detained without any due process (ICE not following its own regulations in re-detaining 

Petitioner), her Fifth Amendment and Due process rights were violated. 

53, For these reasons, Petitioner's detention violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to grant the following: 

(1) ~~ Assume jurisdiction over this matter; 

(2) Issue an Order to Show Cause ordering the Respondents to show cause within three 

days why this Petition should not be granted. 

(3) Declare that Petitioner's detention violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment, 8 C.E.R. § 241.4(1) and § 241.13), and Zadvydas, 

(4) Issue an Order Granting the Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus ordering Respondents 

to immediately release Petitioner. Wave Resandents We a Pep ruy Qrrarinyy ce lease . 

(5) Grant any further relief this Court deems just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Voss 
Kall Vhad, 
Petitioner 

Dated: feleto
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Declaration Under Penalty of Perjury 

Petitioner is currently incarcerated at the Stewart Detention Center in Lumpkin, Georgia. 
Petitioner placed this petition in the prison mail system on this date: le jee 

I declare under penalty of perjury that I am the Petitioner, I have read this petition, and the 
information in this petition is true and correct. I understand that a false statement of a material fact 
may serve as the basis of prosecution for perjury. 

Date: if 2 [eke Nabi nace 
Xac’Thao, Petitioner
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Certificate of Service 

On _if{2| ize __, ] filed the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, the list of Exhibits, the 

Application for Issuance of Order to Show Cause, and the Memorandum of Law in Support of 

Habeas Relief with the Clerk of Court for the U.S, District Court, Middle District of Georgia, 

Columbus Division. I hereby certify that I have served the documents on alt parties of record by a 

manner authorized by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 5(b)(2). I have served all parties by 

certified mail with return receipt. 

Niw\ yee 
Xaol Thao 



Case 4:26-cv-00057-CDL-ALS Document1 Filed 01/16/26 Page 13 of 14 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF 

HABEAS CORPUS 
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